
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN LIQUID CRYSTAL DISPLAY
DEVICES, INCLUDING MONITORS,
TELEVISIONS, MODULES, AND
COMPONENTS THEREOF Investigation No. 337-TA-741/749

THE COMMISSION’S FINAL DETERMINATION OF NO VIOLATION OF SECTION
337 VVITHRESPECT TO U.S. PATENT NOS. 5,978,063; 5,648,674; 5,621,556; AND

5,375,006AND TERMINATION OF THE INVESTIGATION AS TO THOSE PATENTS
AND REMAND OF THE INVESTIGATION AS TO U.S. PATENT NO. 6,121,941

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.

ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined to reverse the determination of the presiding administrative law judge (“ALJ”) that
found a violation of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 with respect to U.S. Patent No.
5,648,674 (“the ’674 patent”), and to affirm, with modifications, the determination of the ALJ
that found no violation with respect to U.S. Patent Nos. 5,978,063 (“the ’063 patent”); 5,648,674
(“the ‘674 patent”); 5,621,556 (“the ’556 patent”); and 5,375,006 (“the ’006 patent”). The
Commission hereby terminates the investigation with a finding of no violation as to the ’006,
‘O63,’556 and ’674 patents. With respect to U.S. Patent No. 6,121,941 (“the ’94l patent”), the
Commission has determined to issue a remand to the ALJ to determine whether the asserted
claims are invalid in view of the ViewFrame lI+2 prior art.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Jia Chen, Office of the GeneralCounsel,
U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone
(202) 708-4737. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection with this
investigation are or will be available for inspection during offieial business hours (8:45 a.m. to
5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street,
S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information concerning the
Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at httg://www.usi1c.gov. The
public record for this investigation may be viewed on the Commissiorfs electronic docket
(EDIS) at /1I[_Q.'//6d1'S.ZlSil‘C.gov. Hearing~impaired persons are advised that information on this
matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD terminal on (202)205-1810.



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: The Commission instituted lnv. No. 337-TA—74lon
October 18, 2010, based on a complaint filed by Thomson Licensing SAS of France and
Thomson Licensing LLC of Princeton, New Jersey (collectively “Thomson”). 75 Fed. Reg.
63856 (Oct. 18, 2010). The complaint alleged violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of
1930, as amended 19 U.S.C. § 1337, by reason of infringement of various claims of the
’94l,’063,’674,’556; and ’006 patents. The Commission instituted Inv. No. 337-TA-749 on
November 30, 2010, based on a complaint filed by Thomson. 75 Fed. Reg. 74080 (Nov. 30,
2010). The complaint alleged violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930by reason of
infringement of various claims of the ’063, ’556, and ’006 patents. On January 5, 2011, the
Commission consolidated the two investigations. The respondents are Chimei InnoLux
Corporation of Miaoli County, Taiwan and InnoLux Corportation of Austin, Texas (collectively,
“CMI”); MStar Semiconductor Inc. of ChuPei, Taiwan (“MStar”); Qisda Corporation of
Taoyuan, Taiwan and Qisda America Corporation of Irvine, California (collectively, “Qisda”);
and BenQ Corporation of Taipei, Taiwan, BenQ America Corporation of lrvine, California, and
BenQ Latin America Corporation of Miami, Florida (collectively “BenQ”); Realtek
Semicondustor Corp. of Hsinchu, Taiwan (“Realtek”); and AU Optronics Corp. of Hsinchu,
Taiwan and AU Optronics Corp. America of Houston, Texas (collectively “AUO”).

On January l2, 2012, the ALJ issued the subject ID finding a violation of Section 337
with respect to the ’674 patent. The ALJ found that the CMI accused products including the
Type 2 Array Circuitry and any Qisda or BenQ accused products incorporating these CMI
accused products infringe the asserted claims of the ’674 patent. The ALJ found that no other
accused products infiinge the ’674 patent. The ALJ also found that no accused products infringe
the asserted claims of the ’063 patent, the “O06patent, the ’556 patent, or the ’941 patent. The
ALJ also found that claims 1, 2, 3, 4, 8, ll, 12, 14, and 18 of the ’063 patent are invalid for
obviousness under 35 U.S.C. § 103, and that claims 4 and 14 of the ’006 patent are invalid as
anticipated under 35 U.S.C. § 102. The ALJ further found that claim 17 ofthe ’063 patent, claim
7 of the ’006 patent, and the asserted claims of the ’556 patent, the ’674 patent, and the ’94l
patent are not invalid. The ALJ concluded that a domestic industry exists in the United States
that exploits the asserted patents as required by 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(2). On January 25, 201 l,
Thomson, CMI, MStar, Realtek, and AUO each filed a petition for review of the ID. BenQ and
Qisda filed a joint petition for review incorporating the other respondents’ arguments by
reference.

On March 26, 2012 the Commission determined to review (1) claim construction of the
limitation “layer” of the asserted claims of the ’006 patent; (2) infringement of the asserted
claims of the ’006 patent; (3) anticipation of claims 4 and 7 of the ’006 patent by Scheuble; (4)
the claim construction of the limitations “mechanically rubbing” / “mechanically rubbed,” “a
plurality of spacing elements,” and “an affixing layer” of the asserted claims of the ’063 patent;
(5) infringement of the asserted claims of the ’063 patent; (6) obviousness of the asserted claims
of the ’063 patent in view of Sugata and Tsuboyama; (7) whether Lowe and Miyazaki are prior
art to the asserted claims of the ’063 patent; (8) anticipation of the asserted claims of the ’063
patent by Lowe; (9)'anticipation of the asserted claims of the ’063 patent by Miyazaki; (10)
obviousness of the asserted claim of the ‘S56 patent in view of Takizawa and Possin; (11)
anticipation and obviousness of the asserted claims of the ’674 patent in view of Fujitsu; (12)
claim construction of the “second rate” “determined by” limitation of the asserted claims of
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the ’941 patent and the “input video signal” limitation of claim 4 of the ’941 patent; (13)
infringement of the asserted claims of the ’941 patent; (14) anticipation of the asserted claims of
the ’941 patent by Baba; (15) exclusion of evidence of the ViewFra;meII+2 LCD Panel; and (16)
economic prong of the domestic industry requirement.

On March 26, 2012, the Commission also determined to review and to take no position
on the claim construction of the terms “drain electrodes” and “source electrodes” of the ’556
patent. The Commission requested briefing from the patties on the issues on review, as well as
on remedy, the public interest, and bonding. 1

Having examined the record of this investigation, including the AL.l’s final ID and the
submissions of the parties, the Commission has determined to reverse the ALJ’s finding of
violation of section 337 by the ’674 patent and affirm, with modifications, the findings of no
violation of section 337 as to the ’006, ‘O63and ’566 patents. Specifically, the Commission
finds that the asserted claims of the ‘674 patent are infringed by respondents CMI, Qsida, and
BenQ, and that respondents have shown that claims 1, 7, 8, 14, 16, 17, and 18 of the ’674 patent
are anticipated by Fujitsu and that claims 9, 11, and 13 are obvious in view of Fujitsu and the
knowledge of one of ordinary skill in the art. The Commission also finds that (a) respondents do
not infringe the asserted ciaims of the ’006 patent; (b) Scheuble does not anticipate claims 4 and
7 of the ’006 patent; (c) respondent AUO, Qsida, and BenQ infringe claims 11,12, 14, 17, and
18, but not the remaining asserted claims of the ’063 patent; (d) respondent CMI does not
infringe the asserted claims of the ’O63patent; (e) the ’063 patent are obvious in view of Sugata
and Tsuboyama; (t) Lowe and Miyazaki are prior art to claims 1-4 and 8 of the ’063 patent, but
not the remaining asserted claims of the ’063 patent; (g) respondents have not shown that Lowe
anticipates the asserted claims of the ‘O63patent; (h) Miyazaki anticipates claims 11, 12, 14, 17,
and 18 of the ’()63patent, but not any of the remaining asserted claims of the ’063 patent; (i)
respondents have not shown that claim 3 of the ’556 patent is obvious in view of Takizawa and
Possin; and (1)complainant satisfied the economic prong of the domestic industry requirement
under 19 U.S.C. § l337(a)(3)(C). Therefore, the investigation is terminated with a finding of
no violation as to the ’006, ’O63,’556 and ’674 patents. With respect to the ’94l patent, the
Commission affirms that (a) respondents do not infringe the asserted claims of the ‘941 patent;
and (b) respondents have not shown that the asserted claims of the ‘941 patent are obvious in
view of Baba. The Commission reverses the ALJ’s ruling to exclude from the record evidence
of the View/FrameH+2 prior art, and remands to the ALI to decide whether the ViewFrame I1+2
anticipates the asserted claims of the ’941 patent (the Commission notes that this patent expires
on August 26, 2012).
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The auth0n'ty for the C0mmission’s determination is contained in section 337 ofthe
TariffAct of 1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in sections 210.42-46 and 210.50 ofthe
C0mmission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. §§ 210.42-46 and 210.50).

By order of the Commission.

ifiii.-¢,.-.§§”’;/'%:?;?i,ii/‘Z \-—---~»---'"“""')

Lisa Barton
Acting Secretary to the Commission

Issued: June 14, 2012
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Page 1 —Certificate of Service

CERTAIN LIQUID CRYSTAL DISPLAY DEVICES, 337-TA-749
INCLUDING MONITORS, TELEVISIONS, AND MODULES,
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF S

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached NOTICE has been served by hand
upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Daniel L. Girdwood, Esq., and the
following parties as indicated, on June 14, 2012
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if/*”'Lisa Rf Barton, Acting Secretary
U.S. International Trade Commission
500 E Street, SW
Washington, DC 20436

On Behalf of Complainants Thomson Licensing SAS and
Thomson Licensing LLC:

D. Sean Trainer, Esq.
KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP
655 l5th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20005

On Behalf of Respondents AU Optronics Corporation
and AU Optronics Corporation America:

Julie M. Holloway, Esq.
LATHAM & WATKINS LLP
505 Montgomery Street
Suite 2000
San Francisco. CA 94111

( ) Via Hand Delivery
(X)Via Overnight Mail
( ) Via First Class Mail
( ) Other: ___________

( ~)Via Hand Delivery
(;() Via Overnight Mail
( ) Via First Class Mail
( )Other:__i

On Behalf of Respondents Oisda Corporationgjfisda
America C0rporation;_(_)isda(Suzhou) Co.. Ltcl.: BenQ
Corporation; BenO America Corporation; and BenO
Latin America Coggorafion:

Steven P. Hollman, Esq. ( ) Via Hand Delivery
HOGAN LOVELLS US LLP Via Overnight Mail
555 Thirteenth Street. NW Y0 Via First Class Mail
Washington DC 20004 ( ) Other:



Page 2 —Certificate of Service

On Behalf of Respondents Chimei Innolux Corporation;
Innolux Corporation: and Chi Mei Optoelectronics
USA, Inc.:

Jack Q. Lever, Esq.
WHITE & CASE LLP
701 13“ Street NW
Washington, DC 20005

On Behalf of Respondent MStar Semiconductor, Inc.:

James B. Altman, Esq.
FOSTER, MURPHY, ALTMAN, & NICKEL, PC
l899 L Street, NW
Suite 1150

Washington, D.C. 20036

On Behalf of Respondent Realtek Semiconductor
Coggorationz

Brian Koo, Esq.
SIDLEY AUSTIN LLP
1501 K Street N.W.

Washington, DC 20005

( ) Via Hand Delivery
Q<)Via Overnight Mail
( ) Via First Class Mail
( ) Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
QC)Via Overnight Mail
( ) Via First Class Mail
( )Other:

( ) Via Hand Delivery
()0 Via Overnight Mail
( ) Via First Class Mail
( )Other:


